1989

Kim J. Tanner v. The Phoenix Insurance Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF CASE

UCA 31A-2-307 and UCA 78-2-2(3)(j) confer jurisdiction on the Supreme Court to decide this appeal from a final judgment. The case was poured-over to the Court of Appeals under the authority of the Utah Supreme Court.

This appeal is from a final judgment of the Third District Court which had been requested to declare the meaning of a portion of the Insurance Code pursuant to its authority under UCA 31A-2-307. The provision in question was UCA 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii) (hereinafter the "No-Fault Household Services Allowance") which reads as follows:

Personal injury protection coverages and benefits include:

. . . a special damage allowance not exceeding \$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days, for services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred for services that, but for the injury, the injured person would have performed for his household, except that this benefit need not be paid for the first three days after the date of injury unless the person's inability to perform these services continues for more than two consecutive weeks;. . .

Motions for summary judgment were heard by the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup who granted The Phoenix Insurance Company summary judgment in its favor and denied the motion of Kim Tanner. The judgment was entered on May 30, 1989. No motions were filed pursuant to Rules 50, 52 or 59. Notice of Appeal was filed on June 26, 1989 and amended on June 29, 1989.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the No-Fault Household Services Allowance provide for a special damage allowance not exceeding \$20 per day of disability or is it limited to \$20 per day of services? The first interpretation places an aggregate limit on benefits based on days of disability while the second places a limit on each day services are received. There is no dispute over whether the allowance is limited to services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred for services that, but for the injury, the injured person would have performed for his household.

2. The following two issues were raised in the Third and Fourth Defenses of The Phoenix Insurance Company's Answer

(Record pp. 8-9). However, in its memorandum supporting its motion for summary judgment, Phoenix appears to deny these are issues (Record pp. 42-43). Kim Tanner includes them here since clarification of the statute is the objective and both were part of her motion for summary judgment.

a. Does the No-Fault Household Services Allowance provide benefits for services rendered by family members that, but for the injury, the injured person would have performed for his household?

b. Does the No-Fault Household Services Allowance provide benefits for the labor portion of the expense for meals eaten at a restaurant if, but for the injury, the injured person would have provided the labor portion of similar meals for his household?

STATUTORY REFERENCES

The following statutes are believed to be pertinent to, if not determinative of, the interpretation issues:

1. Historical antecedents of UCA 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii):

The No-Fault Household Services Allowance concept first entered Utah law as part of the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act, Laws 1973, Chapter 55 and was codified as the former UCA 31-41-6(1)(b)(ii) which provided as follows:

In lieu of reimbursement for expenses which would have been reasonably incurred for services that, but for the injury, the injured person would have performed for his household and regardless of whether any of these

expenses are actually incurred, an allowance of \$12 per day commencing not later than three (3) days after the date of the injury and continuing for a maximum of 365 days thereafter, but if the person's inability to perform these services shall so continue for in excess of a total of fourteen (14) days after the date of the injury, this three-day elimination period shall not be applicable.

Laws 1979 Chapter 119, Section 1 amended this provision of the code to read as follows:

A special damages allowance not exceeding \$12 per day for services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred for services that, but for the injury, the injured person would have performed for his household commencing not later than three days after the date of the injury and continuing for a maximum of 365 days thereafter, but if the person's inability to perform these services shall so continue for in excess of a total of fourteen days after the date of the injury, this three-day elimination period shall not be applicable.

Laws 1985 Chapter 242 repealed UCA 31-41-6(1)(b)(ii) and enacted UCA 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii) which has not since been amended. The text of this statute appears under "Jurisdiction and Nature of the Case."

2. Construction rules:

a. UCA 68-3-2:

The rule of the common law that statutes in derogation thereof are to be strictly construed has no application to the statutes of this state. The statutes establish the laws of this state respecting the subjects to which they relate, and their provisions and all proceedings under them are to be liberally

construed with a view to effect the objects of the statutes and to promote justice. Whenever there is any variance between the rules of equity and the rules of common law in reference to the same matter the rules of equity shall prevail.

b. UCA 68-3-6:

The provisions of any statute, so far as they are the same as those of any prior statute, shall be construed as a continuation of such provisions, and not as a new enactment.

c. UCA 31A-1-102(2):

The purposes of the Insurance Code are to: . . .

(2) ensure that policyholders, claimants, and insurers are treated fairly and equitably; . . .

d. UCA 31A-1-201(1):

(1) This code shall be liberally construed to achieve the purposes stated in §31A-1-102 and under other chapters of the Insurance Code. The statements of purpose shall aid and guide interpretation but are not independent sources of power.

3. Administrative History.

After making inquiry of the Insurance Department, counsel is not aware of any rule, order, or administrative law decision by the Commissioner of the Insurance Department under UCA 31A-2-201 which directly addresses the issues raised herein. However, Insurance Department Regulation R540-74-1(D) discussed an earlier version of the statute. The regulation was repealed

November 20, 1988 but is set out here for the Court's reference.

D. Section 31-41-6(1)(b)(ii). This subsection provides a \$12 per day benefit for substitute services, whether or not expenses for such services are actually incurred, payable for the period of time the injured person is unable to perform services for his household.

To determine the eligibility for payment and the amount to be paid, it is necessary to verify that:

(1) the injured person customarily performed the service, and

(2) the injured person is now unable to perform the service.

The benefit commences not later than three days after the date of injury and continues for a maximum of 365 consecutive days after the date of injury. However, if a person's inability to perform these services continues for in excess of a total of 14 consecutive days after the date of injury, the three-day elimination period is not applicable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is concerned solely with the interpretation of the No-Fault Household Service Allowance, UCA 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii). The statute, proceedings, and disposition below are set out above under "Jurisdiction and Nature of the Case." The facts underlying the request for interpretation were stated in the Brief in Support of Kim Tanner's Motion for Summary Judgment (Record pp. 14-15) and admitted in Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary

Judgment and in Favor of Its Motion for Summary Judgment (Record p. 41). The facts initially were set out in the petition (Record pp. 1-2) and admitted in the Answer (Record pp. 7-8).

The agreed facts are as follows:

a. Petitioner has a substantial interest in the result of the declaratory interpretation of the No-Fault Household Services Allowance because she was in a motor vehicle accident on June 16, 1988 which gave rise to a personal injury protection claim under this subsection.

b. The Phoenix Insurance Company will be affected by this judgment because it is the insurance company which is initially charged with paying petitioner her personal injury protection benefits.

c. Petitioner has filed claims under this subsection with The Phoenix Insurance Company, which has processed these claims according to the "Household Services Worksheet" attached hereto as Exhibit "A" and incorporated herein by reference.

d. As shown on Exhibit "A", The Phoenix Insurance Company has interpreted the No-Fault Household Services Allowance to place a daily limit on the compensable services and expenses. For example, the Household Services Worksheet shows \$10 of services on 6/22/88 and \$32 of services on 6/23/88. Ten dollars is allowed for 6/22/88 but only \$20 is allowed for 6/23/88. For another example, no allowance is made for days in July and August

on which no services are shown as received although earlier services aggregate more than \$20 per day.

e. The Phoenix Insurance Company has allowed claims for household services of petitioner's husband and for a portion of the expense of restaurant meals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The No-Fault Household Services Allowance is ambiguous in that it allows up to "\$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days" but does not state whether it is \$20 per day of disability or \$20 per day of services.

If the statute means days of disability, then Phoenix is in error in its interpretation. Fifteen days of disability should authorize up to \$300 "for services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred" without regard to whether such services or expenses exceeded \$20 on a given day.

UCA 68-3-6 points to prior incarnations of a statute and directs that current provisions be viewed as continuations of prior provisions so far as they are the same. The 1973 household allowances provision was based on days of disability, which interpretation should continue in the present statute.

UCA 68-3-2, UCA 31A-1-102(2), and the remedial nature of the statute mandate a liberal and equitable construction. The only construction which is liberal and equitable is \$20 per day of disability.

The reference to 365 days in "\$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days" implies a maximum of one year and corresponds to the one-year limit on lost wage compensation. A one-year limit is logically consistent with days of disability which tend to be contiguous, but is inconsistent with days of services which tend to be non-contiguous.

The No-Fault Household Services Allowance is not concerned with the source of services. Services by family members and restaurants are compensable.

ARGUMENT

The No-Fault Household Services Allowance Statute is Ambiguous.

The No-Fault Household Services Allowance statute is ambiguous in that it allows up to "\$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days" but does not state whether it is \$20 per day of disability or \$20 per day of services.

If the statute means days of disability, then Phoenix is in error in its interpretation. Fifteen days of disability should authorize up to \$300 "for services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred" without regard to whether such services or expenses exceeded \$20 on a given day. Thus, if an insured is disabled for fifteen days, she could hire a housekeeper to come every other day to do four hours work at \$10 per hour without exceeding the allowance.

Phoenix interprets the allowance to mean \$20 per day of services. In its view, the disabled insured who hires a housekeeper to come every other day at \$10 per hour can only receive two hours of work per visit without exceeding the allowance.

Prior Statutes Indicate Days
of Disability Were Intended.

UCA 68-3-6 (set out in "Statutory References") directs that the present No-Fault Household Services Allowance, so far as it is the same as any prior statute, shall be construed as a continuation of earlier statutes and not as a new enactment. The first such statute known to counsel is UCA 31-41-6(1)(b)(ii), enacted in Laws 1973 (set out in "Statutory References"). This provision gave an injured insured a benefit of "\$12 per day" in lieu of reimbursement for expenses to replace lost services and regardless of whether expenses were actually incurred. In Wilde vs. Mid-Century Insurance, 635 P.2d 417 (Utah 1981), the Court stated:

The benefit provided under the No-Fault Act entitled plaintiffs to recover \$12 per day for a maximum of 365 days simply by a showing that Carriellee was disabled so that she could not perform household services which "but for the injury, [she] would have performed for [her] household." Wilde, supra, at 420.

The 1973 statute was amended by Laws 1979 (set out under "Statutory References") to limit the benefit to an

"allowance not exceeding \$12 per day for services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred." The point of the amendment was to stop providing benefits where no services were rendered or expenses incurred. It did not limit benefits to \$12 per day of services.

Laws 1985 repealed the No-Fault Household Services Allowance then re-enacted a similar provision which has remained unchanged. This current statute provides "a special damage allowance not exceeding \$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days, for services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred" Once again, it did not limit benefits to \$20 per day of services.

Liberal and Equitable Interpretations
Requires Days of Disability.

UCA 68-3-2 (set out in "Statutory References") provides that the No-Fault Household Services Allowance is to be "liberally construed with a view to effect the objects of the statutes and to promote justice." UCA 31A-1-201(1) and 31A-1-102(2) (set out in "Statutory References") mandate a liberal construction to "insure that policyholders, claimants, and insurers are treated fairly and equitably; . . ."

A liberal and equitable construction of the No-Fault Household Services Allowance should avoid the unjust, absurd, and unreasonable consequences which flow from the "\$20 per day of services" interpretation. Assume, for argument's sake, that

housecleaning services cost \$10.00 an hour. If a housewife is injured in an automobile accident and seeks the No-Fault Household Services Allowance, she must arrange to have the cleaner come for only two hours each day (which the cleaner may not be willing to do) under Phoenix's interpretation. If she has the cleaner come for four hours every other day or for eight hours every four days, her benefit is halved or quartered although she has received exactly the same amount of service. Why should an insured be penalized for hiring help once a week instead of multiple short visits?

Assume again that four helpful neighbors each provide a dinner on the same day and that each dinner represents \$10 of services. One dinner is eaten on the first day and the other three are saved for the succeeding three nights. Under the "\$20 per day of services" interpretation, only \$20 is payable even though \$40 would be payable had the neighbors each prepared a dinner on a different night.

No worthy policy is served by limiting benefits to \$20 per day of services. It penalizes reasonable behavior, traps the unwary, and creates an administrative nightmare for the injured party. Its sole redeeming "virtue" is minimizing the benefits mandated by the legislature. Even that "virtue" may be imaginary, as pointed out in Gulla, below.

The "\$20 per day of disability" interpretation provides a far more just and reasonable result. Injured persons have a budget which is directly related to their days of disability. This budget can be applied to "services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred" in whatever manner is the most appropriate under the circumstances.

The Superior Court of New Jersey considered a similar question in Gulla vs. Allstate Insurance Company, 180 N.J. Super. 413, 434 A.2d 1158 (1981). Gulla interpreted a New Jersey statute providing for no-fault essential services benefits. Determining that the statute was remedial and was to be given liberal construction, the court interpreted the statute to permit recovery of either \$12.00 per day for each day of disability, whether or not payment for services was made on a daily basis, or \$4,380, whichever is less:

N.J.S.A. 39:6A-4 provides:

Payment of essential services benefits to an injured person shall be made in reimbursement of necessary and reasonable expenses incurred for such substitute essential services ordinarily performed by the injured person for himself, his family and members of the family residing in the household, subject to an amount or limit of \$12.00 per day. Such benefits shall be payable during the life of the injured person and shall be subject to an amount of limit of \$4,380.00, on account of injury to any one person in any one accident.

Defendant contends that this language limits the plaintiff's recovery to \$12 for each day that actual services were performed. On this

theory she may recover only \$12 a day for services which cost her \$20-\$25. It is plaintiff's position that the statute permits a recovery of either \$12 a day for each day of the disability, whether or not payment for services was made on a daily basis, or \$4,380.00, whichever is less. The statute is remedial; it is to be given a liberal construction. Ochs v. Federal Ins. Co., 177 N.J. Supr. 19, 424 A.2d 849 (App.Div.1980).

Plaintiff's interpretation satisfies that rule of construction. Nothing in the language of the law prevents that reading. It is adopted here for the purpose of calculating any recovery to which plaintiff is entitled.

This approach is in the interest of both parties. Were the statute interpreted as the defendant suggests, a knowing claimant, who needed essential services of only one day a week, would have them performed over seven short days instead of one long one, recovering \$84 (7 x \$12) instead of the one day cost of \$20-\$25. Excessive recoveries will not be permitted under the rule here adopted: only "necessary and reasonable expenses" may be reimbursed. Gulla, 1159-60.

Days of Disability is the
Logical Interpretation.

The provisions of UCA 31A-22-307(1)(b) are directed to two benefits: compensation of lost wages and compensation for lost household services. The lost wage benefit is provided for "52 consecutive weeks" while the lost household services benefit is for "\$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days." It would seem that both provisions are directed to the first year after injury.

If "\$20 per day of services" was intended, the benefit would not be limited to one year after the injury. It would instead continue until there had been 365 days of services. Such

an interpretation is inconsistent with the clear calendar year limit on the wage benefit and the three-day waiting period found in both provisions.

The No-Fault Household Services
Allowance is Not Concerned with the
Source of Replacement Services.

Even a casual reading of the three household services statutes indicates that they have no restrictions on the source of replacement services. As pointed out in Jamison vs. Utah Home Fire Insurance, 559 P.2d 958 (Utah 1977) and Robinson vs. Hreinson, 17 Utah 2d 261, 409 P.2d 121 (1965), an insurance company cannot claim the benefit of services rendered gratuitously by friends and relatives.

CONCLUSION

The case on appeal, by itself, would be difficult to justify as an economic activity. The No-Fault Household Services Allowance presents, at most, a \$7,300 issue to any given insured and will hopefully be for less in most cases. In the aggregate, however, the issue is larger because it affects so many insureds, most of whom are ill-equipped to pursue this matter in the courts. The frequency with which this statute is applied cries out for authoritative resolution of the fundamental question of how benefits are to be calculated.


In curing this lack of authoritative interpretation, the Court of Appeals has an opportunity which the Third District

Court did not. This Court's opinion can be published in the usual reporters and become a valuable reference for both insurance companies and insureds.

The opinion rendered by the Court should take into account prior legislation on the household services allowance. It should interpret the statute in a manner that is logical, equitable, and liberal. It should determine that the allowance is based upon days of disability, not days of service.