1989

# Kim J. Tanner v. The Phoenix Insurance Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The statute's literal terms provide for a daily limit on the amount of special damage allowance which is payable. Plaintiff's interpretation would require the Court to gloss over the plain meaning of the statute and impose a convoluted reading which violates the rules of statutory construction.

Plaintiff's interpretation would also not serve the legislative intent to reduce costs, effectuate savings and provide prompt payments. It would instead open up insurance carriers to an indefinite amount of liability and encourage them to scrutinize claims which are currently paid up to the statutory limit, without dispute.

The one case plaintiff presents in support of her position involves a New Jersey statute which, unlike Utah, does not provide for payment for gratuitous services. The Utah statute reflects a balancing of the wish to pay for gratuitous services rendered while avoiding unnecessary administrative expense and limiting the insurance carrier's exposure to excessive or fraudulent claims. The daily statutory limitation permits a reasonable amount of gratuitous services to be compensated for while permitting the carrier (and therefore the public who pays the premiums) to avoid excessive costs from exorbitant claims or the investigation of such claims. The \$20 daily limit is the legislative answer to these competing interests. This Court should respect that determination by giving effect to the statute as written and affirm the District Court's order.



### ARGUMENT

Plaintiff requests this Court to endorse a strained interpretation of Utah's No-Fault Act, Utah Code Ann.

§ 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii) (1986) which would grant her a few additional dollars, impose a large administrative and financial burden on insurance companies paying benefits under the Act, and frustrate the Legislature's intentions to reduce costs, effectuate savings, and promote prompt payment on claims.

Utah's No-Fault Act provides personal injury protection to covered individuals ("PIP benefits"). Those PIP benefits include medical expenses, up to \$3,000 per person; lost wage benefits up to \$250 per week for up to 52 weeks; and a special damage allowance "not exceeding \$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days, for services actually rendered or expenses actually incurred for services . . ." It is this last element, the special damages allowance, which concerns us in this case. Plaintiff claims that the quoted language should be read to provide an aggregate total to permit her to receive \$20 for each day of incapacity, up to the total amount claimed for services which Plaintiff would have performed for her household but for her injury, regardless of when the services were rendered or expenses incurred, rather than receiving the allowance for services actually rendered or expenses actually incurred up to a daily limit of \$20.00.

It should be noted that the other issues mentioned by plaintiff, whether the allowance may be recovered for services provided by family members or for the labor portion of the expense

for meals eaten at a restaurant, are moot and not properly on appeal. It is undisputed that Phoenix has paid for such benefits to the extent they have been claimed, up to the statutory limit of \$20 per day. Accordingly, these questions are not in dispute, were not considered by the trial judge in granting Phoenix's motion for summary judgment, and should not be considered on appeal. It is also clear that payment of any additional amounts would be subject to the limitation of reasonableness imposed by the statute, and would require the determination of disputed material facts to resolve.

THE STATUTE IS CLEAR AND REQUIRES A DAILY LIMIT ON AMOUNTS PAYABLE.

The issue before the Court is whether the No-Fault Act mandates payments in excess of the services actually rendered or expenses actually incurred on a given day. The statute requires an allowance "not exceeding \$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days . . ." While there is no Utah authority directly on point, the plain language of the statute, the legislative proposal it serves, and Utah case law interpreting its predecessor, all compel the conclusion drawn by the court below--that no such additional payments are required.

A. The Rules of Statutory Construction Require That Meaning Be Given To All Terms of the Statute.

To argue that the Utah statute establishes only an aggregate upper limit rather than a daily allowance for amounts

incurred that day, up to twenty dollars, offends the plain meaning of the section. Plaintiff's interpretation strips the term "not exceeding \$20 per day" of all meaning, other than as a measuring stick of the amount recoverable, i.e., \$20 x the number of days of disability. As this Court recently stated:

The basic rule for statutory construction is that words used in statutes should be given their ordinary, plain meaning: 'the presumption is that the words are used in their ordinary sense, and if a different interpretation is sought it must rest upon something in the character of the legislation or in the context which will justify a different meaning.

In the Matter of Adoption of M.L.T., 746 P.2d 1179 at 1180 (Utah App. 1987), quoting Deseret Savings Bank v. Francis, 62 Utah 85, 217 P. 1114, 1115 (1923). The Court should also give effect to the Legislature's underlying intent, assume that each term in a statute was used advisedly, and interpret the statute in accordance with its literal wording unless it is unreasonably confusing or inoperable. Gleave v. Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad, 749 P.2d 660, 672 (Utah App. 1988).

Here the statutory language provides for:

. . . a special damage allowance not exceeding \$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days, for services actually rendered or expenses reasonably incurred for services that, but for the injury, the injured person would have performed for his household . . .

§ 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii). The literal reading of this section is that a \$20 per day limit is placed on services actually rendered or reasonably incurred that day. By contrast, plaintiff wishes the Court to ignore the statutory language and instead act as if

it read "a special damage allowance not to exceed a total of \$20 dollars times the number of days of disability, up to 365 days." If that had been intended, it would have been drafted that way by the Legislature.

The literal reading of the statute is in harmony with the legislative intent shown when the No-Fault Act was originally enacted to "stabilize, if not effectuate certain savings in the rising costs of automobile accident insurance." Jamison v. Utah Home Fire Insurance Company, 559 P.2d 958, 960 (Utah, 1977) (emphasis by the Court), citing Utah Code Ann. § 31-41-2. To permit recovery beyond that provided by the strict wording of the statute would contravene the legislative intent. The statute is to be construed to promote justice, and to carry out the purpose of the Insurance Code that "policyholders, claimants, and insurers are treated fairly and equitably; . . . " Utah Code Ann. § 31A-1-102(2) (1985). As discussed below, the Utah statute balances the wish to pay claims for certain "primary damages as to necessary medical, hospital, and loss of wages . . . without undue delay." Jamison, supra, 559 P.2d at 959, with the "stated objective" to effectuate savings. Id at 960. Plaintiff's interpretation fails to give the words of the statute their full meaning, and would also throw off this legislatively crafted balance.

B. Utah Case Law Rejects Interpretations Which Gloss  
Over The Statutory Language.

In Jamison, supra, the Utah Supreme Court discussed § 31-41-6(1)(b)(ii), the predecessor to § 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii). That section provided in pertinent part:

. . . in lieu of reimbursement for expenses which would have been reasonably incurred for services . . . regardless of whether any of these expenses were actually incurred, an allowance of \$12.00 per day . . . continuing for a maximum of 365 days thereafter . . .

The plaintiff in Jamison sought an "automatic award of \$12 per day for injury to any member of a household who would have performed services of any nature, however much or minimal, and whether their value is great or small." 559 P.2d at 959. The Court rejected such an approach, applying instead a "rule of reason" in determining what amounts could be recovered in any given case, stating:

The principle which best serves the objective to be desired is to give both parties the benefit of a sensible, even-handed and practical application of the statute, under the assumption that all of its language was used advisedly and in harmony with its purposes. If the Act had intended reimbursement for any and all duties performed by members of households, it could have plainly so stated. But it does not do so. Only by keeping the awards within reason, and excepting therefrom claims that might be unrealistic, fanciful, or perhaps even fraudulent, can the stated objective, 'to effectuate . . . savings in the rising costs of automobile accident insurance . . . ' be accomplished. Otherwise it is obvious that necessary increases in premiums would defeat, rather than promote, the purposes of the Act.

559 P.2d at 960 (footnotes omitted, emphasis in original).

Similarly, if the Legislature intended to only provide a cap on recovery rather than a daily limit, it could have easily done so. Just as the attempt was rejected in Jamison to recover the allowance without regard to the statutory requirement that the expenses "would have been reasonably incurred," so should plaintiff's attempt here be rejected to recover without regard to the statutory limitation of \$20 per day.

Section 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii) differs from § 31-41-6(1)(b)(ii) by raising the daily limit to \$20 and attempting to spell out the Jamison court's holding that recovery could be either expenses reasonably incurred or services actually rendered. That amendment and renumbering, however, does nothing to undermine the force of the Jamison court's determination that automatic payments are not permitted. Plaintiff here seeks to recover payments automatically, without regard to the daily limitation provided in that statute.

C. Plaintiff's Interpretation Raises Problems Of Interpretation and Administration.

Plaintiff's aggregate limit interpretation either permits plaintiff to recover up to  $20 \times 365$ , without regard to the length of disability, an interpretation clearly at odds with the intent to effectuate savings the Supreme Court relied so heavily upon in Jamison; or to obtain up to  $\$20 \times$  the number of days of disability. This latter version raises serious problems of implementation and interpretation. To eliminate the statutory

daily limit would cast carriers adrift with no practicable way to determine how much to pay. Presumably, plaintiff's argument is that Phoenix should pay more than twenty dollars on some days on the hope that it will be able to offset that overpayment against other days when reimbursement for less than \$20 is claimed. However, this non-textual interpretation provides no guidance in determining how far off of a twenty dollar per day average the carrier should get in making payments.

Plaintiff's situation demonstrates a few of the problems with her approach. Referring to her household services worksheet, Exhibit A to plaintiff's Brief, R. 23-25, plaintiff was injured on June 16, 1988. In the next fourteen days, June 17-June 30, plaintiff claims reimbursement for \$640.50, when even recovering \$20 for every day would only yield \$280 (and plaintiff was paid \$270). How much of the excess money should Phoenix have advanced? Reviewing amounts claimed for the next month shows that there was little opportunity to set off any additional amounts paid. During July, plaintiff claimed \$800.50, while recovery of \$20 each day would only yield \$620. How many days, weeks, or months would a carrier have to overpay before it could begin to pay less than \$20 on a day when \$20 or more was claimed in order to avoid overpaying? The problem becomes impossible when one considers that the duration of a claimant's disability is variable and impossible to ascertain in advance. A carrier could advance payments and then never have a chance to offset if the claimant recovers sooner than expected. If the carrier were to delay

payment until the end of disability to avoid this problem, it would frustrate the Act's clear intention to provide payment "without undue delay." Jamison, 559 P.2d at 959. Following the language of the statute and limiting payment to expenses incurred or services rendered in a given day, up to \$20, avoids these problems and permits a fast, definitive determination of the claimant's entitlement, effectuating the statutory purpose of treating the claimants and insurers fairly and equitably.

The statutory daily limit serves also another purpose--it avoids many disputes regarding the reasonableness of claimed expenses or services. As the Jamison decision makes clear, the determination of the compensability of each claim is an issue of fact turning upon the circumstances of the claim. Where a carrier can, as Phoenix did here, attempt to avoid the expense and delay of disputing certain items by paying the daily maximum of \$20, the statute's purpose of treating the parties fairly and avoiding delay is served. Under plaintiff's interpretation, however, the carrier must scrutinize every claim to avoid having to pay it through some as yet undeveloped procedure to offset against hoped-for future underpayments.

Reference to plaintiff's circumstances illustrates this point. It is clear under Jamison that payment is only required for work actually done, which the plaintiff would have done but for the injury, and for which it is reasonable to incur expenses, regardless of whether or not expenses were actually incurred. 559 P.2d at 960-961. In the period June 26 through June 30, plaintiff



claims that 59.1 hours of services were rendered, as well as additional restaurant expense, for a total of \$301.50. Rather than having to investigate each item exhaustively to avoid payment on inflated claims, Phoenix was able to avoid unnecessary costs and delay by permitting recovery of \$20 each day.

D. Plaintiff's Only Case In Support Of Her Position Is Not On Point.

Plaintiff bases her argument on one case from New Jersey, Gulla v. Allstate Insurance Co., 180 N.J. Super 413, 434 A.2d 1158 (N.J. 1981), which has not since been cited in other decisions. Plaintiff argues that the Utah statute should be interpreted to provide an "aggregate limit," which would permit her to recover \$20.00 per day even for days in which no service was rendered or expense was incurred.

In Gulla, the statute provided for recovery of "necessary and reasonable expenses incurred for such substitute essential services" subject to a limit of \$12 per day and \$4380 over the course of the injured person's life. N.J.S.A. § 39:6A-4(c). By contrast, Utah's statute permits recovery for both expenses actually incurred and other services actually rendered, "not exceeding \$20 per day for a maximum of 365 days." Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-307(1)(b)(ii). Under the New Jersey approach, necessary and reasonable expenses may be reimbursed to permit:

. . . a recovery of either \$12 a day for each day of the disability, whether or not payment for

services was made on a daily basis, or \$4380.00, whichever is less.

434 A.2d at 1160 (emphasis in original).

There is an important difference between the New Jersey statute interpreted in Gulla and Utah's statute. The New Jersey statute only refers to reimbursement of expenses incurred, with no provision for payment for services gratuitously provided, as Utah's statute permits. That broader remedial purpose in Utah's statute requires strict adherence to the statutory language. Unlike expenses, which are relatively easy to verify, the extent of services rendered for which no payment was made is inherently difficult to substantiate. The Utah Legislature chose to require payment for gratuitous services rendered, but it also imposed an upper limit on the amount allowed each day. To eliminate the protection afforded by the statutory daily limit would upset the balance established by the Legislature, and encourage carriers to spend additional time and money investigating special damage allowance claims to avoid incurring unnecessary expense, which would effectively delay the payment of and increase the cost of PIP benefits for everyone.

As the Utah Supreme Court has stated:

. . . insurance is a business, not a philanthropy. There can be no free gifts or benefactions. In the long run premiums must pay for losses; and therefore, increases in premiums must and will be correlated to the extent of the coverage. . . . Accordingly, a seeming generosity in broadening coverage in an individual situation, would be no favor to policyholders generally, nor to the public.

Jamison, supra, 559 P.2d at 960.

Plaintiff's interpretation is cumbersome, leads to uncertainty, delay, and increased expense and cost. By contrast, the decision of the court below gives meaning to all of the statute, effectuates the stated purposes of the No-Fault Act, and provides a simple, fast, and definite method to pay the PIP special damages allowance. Utah courts have not adopted the "aggregate limit" view in conjunction with Title 31A, and have rejected automatic payments under its predecessor statute. There is no Utah authority to permit payments in excess of the amounts actually incurred in a given day and they should not be permitted. The District Court's rejection of plaintiff's attempt to reach beyond the statutory language was correct and should be affirmed.